IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC 03-2041 Fla. Bar File No. 2004-50,550 (17J)

THE FLORIDA BAR,
Complainant,
-Vs-
STEVEN EDWARD COHEN,
Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL S. MANDEL, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 32872

Attorney for Respondent Mandel, Weisman, Brodie, Griffin & Heimberg, P.A. 2101 N.W. Corporate Boulevard, Suite 300 Boca Raton, FL 33431

Phone: (561) 989-0300 Facsimile: (561) 989-0304

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

This case involves two sets of factual determinations. The correct choice between them is the fundamental legal issue before this Court. A federal district judge, the Honorable Kenneth A. Marra, determined one set of facts when Respondent, Steven Cohen, accepted responsibility and pleaded guilty to the one-count conspiracy to structure funds with which he was charged. The Florida Bar presented the other set of facts later to the referee when going behind the conviction and underlying facts established in federal court. As a legal matter, this Court must decide which factual record properly serves as the predicate for discipline. Accordingly, both sets of facts must be compared and scrutinized to understand this case and to determine upon what basis discipline should be predicated.

The Guilty Plea in Federal Court

As came to light during the federal prosecution, the funds to be structured were the proceeds of a large marijuana distribution racket headed by Roger Taylor, who was arrested and charged with trafficking, among other offenses. Roger Taylor was also a long-standing friend of Steven Cohen and, along with others, a fellow investor in commercial real estate. Before the referee, the testimony was uniform that Mr. Taylor also was known to have legitimate, cash-intensive business dealing with fireworks and automated teller machine, in addition to the legitimate commercial real estate ventures. (Tr. 127-28, 137, 159). No evidence and no judge, whether the

federal district judge or the referee, remotely implicated Respondent Steven Cohen in participating in any trafficking or distribution of marijuana.

Rather, it is uncontested that over a course of approximately ten years, Mr. Taylor prevailed upon Steven Cohen to accept and hold cash for him that was first deposited in a safe deposit box and later in a home safe. As the cash accumulated, it amounted to approximately \$640,000 that Steven Cohen was holding by the time the federal prosecutors arrested and charged Mr. Taylor for distribution of marijuana, thereby making public Mr. Taylor's true occupation. The U.S. Attorney's office stipulated in federal court that the relevant value of the funds was "approximately \$640,000 and as such, it is more than \$500,000 but not more than \$800,000." (Plea Agreement, & 4a).

When charged with a single count in federal court of conspiring to structure funds, Steven Cohen showed respect for himself and for the profession by admitting guilt and entering into a plea agreement for this federal felony, knowing full well that it would also result in discipline from The Florida Bar. In addition to agreeing to an immediate return of all funds in his possession or control, this plea agreement potentially subjected Steven Cohen to a maximum of five years' imprisonment followed by three years' supervised release plus a fine of up to \$250,000. (Plea Agreement, & 5). No prediction of the sentence in the plea agreement was binding upon the federal court, nor could Steven Cohen withdraw his plea merely because the

court rejected any joint recommendations of the parties. (<u>Id.</u>, & 9). Steven Cohen also waived all rights of appeal, short of an upward departure or illegal sentence. (<u>Id.</u> at 10).

Once determined to plea, Steven Cohen also notified The Florida Bar on his own initiative and accepted an immediate suspension of his license before any judgment and sentence was entered by the federal court. As agreed with the U.S. Attorney's Office, Steven Cohen also turned over the approximately \$640,000 in funds of the conspiracy. Although these funds accumulated over a period of approximately ten years, which accumulation was an overt act in furtherance of the charged conspiracy, at no time in that decade was the object of the conspiracy ever fulfilled by deposit of any funds. At no time did the federal government charge Steven Cohen with actually structuring funds, let alone any greater crime or additional counts. At no time did Steven Cohen claim any ownership interest in the funds, nor did the federal government ever seek forfeiture based upon any of the myriad bases available if lawful grounds exist.

The federal district judge overseeing the case against Steven Cohen was the Honorable Kenneth A. Marra, who previously sat in the criminal division of the same Fifteenth Judicial Circuit Court of the State of Florida where the referee also sits. With this experience and vantage point -- and with guilt conceded by Steven Cohen -- the only issue before Judge Marra was the appropriate sentence for the conspiracy

charged. Without any additional counts or greater crimes at issue against Steven Cohen, the appropriate sentence depended largely upon proof of Steven Cohen's knowledge, or lack of knowledge as it turns out, of the source of the funds.

Resolution of this issue by Judge Marra was necessary because both the U.S. Government and Steven Cohen objected to statements in the Presentence Investigation Report ("PSI") prepared by a U.S. Probation Officer, which is not of record here, suggesting that Steven Cohen knew that the source of the funds was from marijuana sales and that Steven Cohen knew this in part because he may have personally used marijuana provided by Mr. Taylor. However, the Assistant U.S. Attorney, Mr. Roger Powell, who had been investigating the case for over a year-and-a-half and prosecuting it against Steven Cohen, felt that there was no basis for imputing such knowledge. In this regard, he told the Judge Marra at sentencing that he had no evidence that Steven Cohen knew the source of the funds, stating categorically:

¹Nor could a federal Presentencing Investigation Report ("PSI") be made part of the record solely by the parties or any state judge. Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32(b) expressly forbids even the parties to a federal criminal case from disclosing the PSI without an order from a federal judge. No such order is of record here, and the referee appears to have been unaware of the need for one.

It was over a year-and-a-half investigation, and, personally, I spoke to every witness in this case, and I can assure the Court that there was no witness, among over 60, in which they reported to me that they had a conversation with Mr. Cohen that the monies involved in any -- in either a daily transaction or a deposit transaction to the safe deposit box involved drug proceeds. Period. End of story.

So, with that in mind, that, point blank, takes care of the issue, I believe, with regard to the illegal nature of the proceeds.

(Sentencing Tr. at 17:17 - 18: 3) (Tr. at 100).

This statement by the lead federal prosecutor was not lightly made. The plea agreement specifically advised that "[t]he Office of the United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida reserves the right to inform the court and the probation office of all facts pertinent to the sentencing process, **including all relevant information concerning the offenses committed, whether charged or not**, as well as concerning the defendant and the defendant's background." (Plea Agreement, & 8) (emphasis supplied).

In further evaluating the appropriate criminal sentence, Judge Marra had the benefit of several, notable character witnesses whose testimony was preserved for the record in the sentencing transcript. For example, Ralph Joseph Phillips, Jr., a Captain of the City of Delray Police Department testified to his good works with kids in National Little League, especially kids with emotional problems. Wayne Cole, the Staff Assistant for the Deputy Secretary of Corrections in the State of Pennsylvania, likewise testified as sentencing to Steven Cohen's profound family attachments, friendship, and character. Attorney William Weisman testified to the pro bono legal

work performed by Steven Cohen, and his nephew, Larry Cohen, explained how Steven Cohen had been a surrogate father to him even while Steven Cohen was raising his own family.

After hearing such testimony, Judge Marra accepted the proffer of the Assistant U.S. Attorney and accepted the plea agreement and the recommended sentence -thereby effectively rejecting the contradictory statements in the PSI to the effect that Steven Cohen knew the source of the funds either directly or through his personal use of drugs provided by the drug dealer, Mr. Taylor. Judge Marra stated: "I will adopt the findings of the pre-sentence investigation report except as to any findings relating to the Defendant's knowledge of the illegal nature of the proceeds. And I'll strike any references to his recreational drug use as well." (Tr. 24). Thus, as a fundamental part of the sentencing hearing, Judge Marra accepted the factual determinations of the plea Accordingly, despite being a first-time offender, Steven Cohen was agreement. sentenced under the applicable guidelines to four months of incarceration followed by four months of home detention and two years of supervised release. He was also fined \$20,000.

The Disciplinary Hearing

When Steven Cohen had served his time in prison, he went before the referee to receive appropriate discipline from The Florida Bar, expecting to participate in a hearing about aggravation and mitigation since the facts underlying the felony conviction were already admitted and adjudicated. This expectation was set by the Order of Referee as follows: "The need for evidentiary hearings on the issue of guilt is obviated by the Respondent's admission that he has pled guilty to, and been convicted of, a felony, and this constitutions violations of Rules 4-8-4(a), (b) & (d) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar." (01/30/04 Order of Referee, at 1). The timing was difficult because Steven Cohen had been incarcerated and was not able to participate freely in the preparation for the hearing before the referee. (Mot. to Continue). Even more pointedly, when the hearing was to begin, his eighty-five yearold mother was extremely ill with cancer and hospitalized. Despite an (Id.)unopposed motion to continue, however, the referee commenced the hearing. (Tr. 11).

Prior to the start of the hearing, the only information that the referee had before him was from a partial sentencing transcript and the Complaint of The Florida Bar with the Judgment and Sentence of the federal district court attached. (Tr. 11). Although the referee had ordered both The Florida Bar and Steven Cohen to produce a copy of the federal Presentence Investigation Report ("PSI"), the record does not reflect that any federal district judge had entered the order necessary to allow either

the federal government or Steven Cohen to disclose the PSI pursuant to the restrictions of Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32(b).²

According to the referee, the point of the hearing was to produce findings of fact about "what he [Steven Cohen] knew and when did he know it and what did he do..." (Tr. 13). Before opening statements, however, the referee stated that he had already concluded, "It's obvious that he [Steven Cohen] was more than just somebody who was serving as an escrow agent here. And the obvious knowledge is there." (Tr. 12.) The referee elaborated: "The simple fact is that I'm inferring a great deal of knowledge and involvement on his [Steven Cohen's] part in any event." (Tr. 15).

Moments later, the referee ordered³ an agent of the U.S. Drug Enforcement Agency, Jon DeLena, to give testimony because "it will simply fill in some blanks, but not really change the court's impression. It's not as though I think he was simply somebody innocently on the periphery here. It's obvious he was involved and knew what was going on." (Tr. 15). The referee professed, "[m]y interest is in knowing essentially what Mr. Cohen knew and did." (Tr. 19). In the referee's view: "What I'm looking at is the issue of the degree of his involvement. **I'm not certainly finding**

² Because it is cited in the Report of the Referee and the Amended Report of the Referee, the Plea Agreement itself was apparently made part of the record sometime later.

³ This order was later memorialized as the "Privacy Act Order" entered June 1, 2004.

that what he pled to alone is sufficient for disbarment. It isn't." (Tr. 44) (Emphasis supplied).

Although Judge Marra had clearly and necessarily determined the very issue of Steven Cohen's knowledge of the source of the funds as part of the judgment and sentence, The Florida Bar encouraged this preconceived inquiry, going behind the adjudicated facts of the conviction in federal court. As the Bar Counsel defined this approach: "We have the **unique scenario** in this case of going a **step further** and introducing into evidence to the court what Mr. Cohen's knowledge [sic] of where the proceeds in question came from." (Tr. 25) (Emphasis supplied).

In the very next breath, however, the Bar Counsel confirmed that while it was seeking to prove knowledge by Steven Cohen, it was simultaneously relying upon the conviction adjudicated in federal court as the basis for appropriate discipline:

[I]t is the bar's position, regardless of that, he's been convicted of a felony. Whether or not he knew the proceeds in question were illegally obtained or they were drug money or he was hiding money for a client... the fact remains, he committed a crime. And having committed **that crime**, he should be sanctioned appropriately.

(Tr. 25) (Emphasis supplied). That crime, the one-count conspiracy to structure funds, was the same crime that the referee had indicated, standing alone, would not justify disbarment. (Tr. 44).

With the stage set in this fashion, The Florida Bar proceeded to elicit the comments of the lone DEA agent, Jon DeLena, as the sole evidence for contradicting

the findings inherent in the federal conviction, as proffered in the plea agreement and by the Assistant U.S. Attorney, Mr. Powell. The agent contradicted the already proven amount of \$640,000 in proceeds, reciting the hearsay that "[a]ccording to Taylor it was at one time over a million dollars." (Tr. 63) The agent also recited the mere belief, expressed by the arch co-conspirator and marijuana kingpin, Mr. Taylor, that Steven Cohen had knowledge: "he, in fact, stated to me -- Taylor did -- that Cohen knew that it was money that he had derived from drug proceeds." (Tr. 63). Notably, at no time in the record did the agent state that Mr. Taylor actually told Steven Cohen the source of the funds. In hearsay fashion, the agent was just relaying a belief of Mr. Taylor.

The agent again purported to quote the out-of-court statements of Mr. Taylor, suggesting that Steven Cohen even used Mr. Taylor's marijuana personally, "as Mr. Taylor told me, he provided a lot of marijuana to Mr. Cohen, for his own personal use." (Tr. 64-65). The agent had no corroboration aside from this report from the drug dealer himself while the dealer was in federal custody.

In response, Steven Cohen took the stand. Without guilt being a disputed issue, there were no witnesses listed by Steven Cohen to give testimony that would go behind the facts of the conviction, as The Florida Bar had done. Rather, Steven Cohen confirmed the essential details of the federal conviction. He met Mr. Taylor when he moved here to go to law school. (Tr. 152). He admitted that Mr. Taylor first entrusted

money to him as long ago as 1993 or 1994. (Tr. 151). Mr. Taylor presented it to him as "fireworks money" in July or August of that year. (Tr. 152). He confirmed that he had asked Mr. Taylor the source of the money, and that Mr. Taylor indicated it was "the fireworks." (Tr. 177). Steven Cohen took Mr. Taylor at his word. (Id.). The rationale for holding the money was to keep a girlfriend of Mr. Taylor unaware. (Tr. 181).

Steven Cohen did not deny that these events unfolded over a period of ten years. (Tr. 154). He also stated that Mr. Taylor removed some of the money "rarely" maybe "once every other year." (Tr. 154). He also admitted to moving the funds from a safe deposit box to a home safe to reduce monthly fees and because it was "too big for the safe deposit box I had." (Tr. 182, 200). Steven Cohen also made the statement that he did not know the status of the prosecutions other people holding money on Mr. Taylor's behalf. (Tr. 198).

Steven Cohen also admitted to the referee that he was never asked to structure the funds by actually depositing them, but that he would have done it if asked because "we did discuss it. And that's the conspiracy." (Tr. 198). Equally tellingly, there was no testimony -- not even hearsay from the DEA agent -- that Steven Cohen had ever used or received any of the money for his own use or received any other benefit. (See Tr. 155, 162, 171, 175).

Other testimony confirmed that of Steven Cohen. The agent confirmed that Mr. Taylor had a legitimate fireworks and ATM businesses, as well as real estate ventures. (Tr. 94-95). Other witnesses called by Steven Cohen at trial confirmed the same, legitimate businesses. (Tr. 127-28, 137). None of the other witnesses called by Steven Cohen knew that Mr. Taylor was not a drug dealer before his arrest, nor did any know or observe personal use of marijuana by Steven Cohen. Quite the contrary, Steven Cohen, age 49 at the time, testified that he was a virtual health nut because both his brother and his grandfather had died in their early fifties. (Tr. 165, 167).

He further explained that when a DEA agent contacted him, he had also just learned of Mr. Taylor's arrest and detention. (Tr. 193). Steven Cohen hired a lawyer on his own behalf, and followed the instructions of his attorney in negotiating the handover of the funds in a manner that avoided concerns of an admission. (Tr. 187, 193). At no point does the record suggest that Steven Cohen ever denied that he held the funds in question; rather, he communicated constantly with the benefit of legal representation. (Tr. 187, 193).

Following this testimony, the Bar Counsel closed by focusing heavily on the "knowledge issue." She argued to the referee "Mr. Cohen knew that he was holding drug proceeds for his friend, a known marijuana dealer" and that "Mr. Cohen must have known or I'm sorry to say he was incredibly stupid if he did not know." (Tr. 205). She further argued, despite the categorical denial by the Assistant U.S. Attorney

in federal court about the absence of testimony from about 60 witnesses, that "no one in this scheme could have believed this was legal money." (Tr. 207). Counsel for Steven Cohen then closed, and was required to answer continuing comments of the referee such as "I can't overlook the fact that [he] was in possession... of \$640,000 of drug money.... And for a year and a half, he kept onto it. And I understand that on advice of counsel it was a bargaining chip." (Tr. 231).

The Referee's Report & Amended Report

The Referee issued a Report of Referee expressly relying upon R. Regulating Fla. Bar 37.2(b) as "conclusive proof of guilt of that criminal offense". (Report, at 3 & 11). At the same time, the Report also relied upon the statements of the DEA agent to find all four of the same violations that were alleged by The Florida Bar in the Complaint:

- R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.3 (unlawful act)
- R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(a) (violation of rules of conduct)
- R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(b) (commission of criminal act adversely affecting the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness)
- R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(d) (conduct prejudicial to administration of justice)

(Report, at 11).

The referee later issued an Amended Report, specifically adding a violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.1(a) (making a false statement of material fact in a disciplinary matter) not previously charged by The Florida Bar. (Am. Report, at 11). Despite having stated the crime to which Steven Cohen pleaded guilty would not "alone" justify disbarment, see Tr. at 44, the referee proceeded to recommend in both the original Report and the Amended Report a 5-year disbarment, citing the statements of the only witness for The Florida Bar, the DEA agent, in order to go behind the conviction.

In so doing, the Amended Report found that four points justified the following six aggravating factors:

- 9.22(b) dishonest or selfish motive
- 9.22(c) pattern of misconduct
- 9.22(d) multiple offenses
- 9.22(f) submission of false evidence
- 9.22(i) substantial experience in the practice of law
- 9.22(j) indifference to making restitution.

(Am. Report, at 12-13).

As the first of the four points, the Amended Report specifically mischaracterized the federal crime as one of "concealment" of funds. (Am. Report, at 4) ("Personally received and concealed"); (Am. Report, at 13) ("helping to conceal

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