IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Case No. SC03-2041

Complainant-Appellee,

v.

The Florida Bar File No. 2004-50,550(17J)

STEVEN EDWARD COHEN,

Respondent-Appellant.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

ADRIA E. QUINTELA, #897000 Bar Counsel, The Florida Bar 5900 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 900 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309 (954)772-2245

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS, #253847 Staff Counsel, The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR., #123390 Executive Director, The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Report of Referee is complete, accurate and correct and justifies a recommendation of disbarment. First, when a Referee's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record, they must be upheld. Second, there is a presumption of disbarment for a Respondent who is convicted of a felony which must be upheld unless the same is rebutted. Third, the Referee did not go "behind the conviction" as is alleged by The Referee merely considered, as he is allowed to, the Respondent. testimony of the witnesses and the evidence before him, the fact that Respondent pled guilty to a federal felony, the mitigating and aggravating factors, the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, and the case law. All of the enumerated considerations are appropriate for a Referee to consider in reaching a disciplinary sanction and do not amount to going "behind a conviction." Additionally, Respondent himself invited such testimony and placed his lack of knowledge at issue.

Finally, even assuming arguendo that the Referee improperly went behind Respondent's conviction, this would be harmless error and not grounds for reversing the recommendation of disbarment. The discipline recommended by the Referee, therefore, is reasonable, appropriate, and follows the precedent set by this Court. Respondent should be disbarred.

DISBARMENT IS THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR A LAWYER WHO PLEADS GUILTY TO A FEDERAL FELONY AND DOES NOT REBUT THE PRESUMPTION OF DISBARMENT

The Referee recommended disbarment after considering the fact that Respondent pled guilty to a federal felony, the aggravating factors present, the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, the case law, and the mitigation offered by the Respondent. That recommendation is appropriate and must be upheld.

This Court has stated that it will not second guess a Referee's recommended discipline if it has a reasonable basis in law and in the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Discipline. The Florida Bar v. Feinberg, 760 So.2d 933 (Fla. 2000); The Florida Bar v. Sweeney, 730 So.2d 1269 (Fla. 1998), The Florida Bar v. Lecznar, 690 So.2d 1284 (Fla. 1997). In fact, a Referee's recommendation on discipline is afforded a presumption of correctness unless the recommendation is clearly erroneous or not supported by the evidence. The Florida Bar v. Lipman, 497 So. 2d 1165, 1168 (Fla. 1986).

This Court has also long held that a felony conviction creates a rebuttable presumption of disbarment. The Florida Bar v. Grief, 701 So.2d 555, 556 (Fla. 1997). While disbarment is the presumed sanction for this type of violation, it is not automatic. The Florida Bar v. Jahn, 509 So.2d 285

(Fla. 1987). An analysis must be made of the severity of the felony and whether the mitigation/aggravation outweighs the severity of the felony. The Referee in the instant case engaged in such an analysis and took great care in reaching his determination to recommend disbarment.

The evidence as determined by the Referee indicated that Respondent, who pled guilty to a federal felony, was not an innocent pawn as he alleged. (ARR 13). In fact, the Referee specifically made findings about Respondent's involvement and knowledge of the criminal activity and in support of his findings specifically stated:

...it insults credulity to suggest that Respondent, a well-to-do lawyer and highly sophisticated real estate investor, would believe that the cash which Taylor frequently delivered to him in \$10,000 packets wrapped in clear plastic, which he surreptitiously transferred to a safe deposit box in a bank in the building where his office was located, and subsequently transferred to a floor safe specially built for that purpose in his partner's home, was ordinary income from legitimate businesses. (ARR 13).

The Referee was able to reach this conclusion after hearing the testimony of DEA Special Agent Jon DeLena, and after hearing the testimony of Respondent himself. To suggest that a Referee is not allowed to assess the credibility of witnesses and to rely on logic in reaching a disciplinary recommendation is ludicrous.

Furthermore, not only did the Referee reach his proper recommendation of disbarment based on the testimony of the witnesses in the case, but also after considering the truthfulness of Respondent's own testimony. As such, he stated that the "Respondent was untruthful during the disciplinary process." (ARR 14). The Referee was entitled to consider this factor in reaching his disciplinary recommendation as to why disbarment, and not a lesser sanction, was appropriate.

Additionally, disbarment was the appropriate recommendation not only given the nature of the offense but also given that the Referee found a number of aggravating factors present: 9.22(b) Dishonest or selfish motive; 9.22(c) A pattern of misconduct; 9.22(d) Multiple offenses; 9.22(f) Submission of false evidence, false statements, or other deceptive practices during the disciplinary process; 9.22(i) Substantial experience in the practice of law; 9.22(j) Indifference to making restitution. (ARR 12-13). mitigation, the Referee considered the following mitigating factors: 9.32(a) Absence of a prior disciplinary record; 9.32(g) Character and reputation; 9.32(k) Imposition of other penalties or sanctions. (ARR 18). When balancing both, the Referee concluded that the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating factors and that the presumption of disbarment had not been rebutted.

Finally, the case law is clear that disbarment is appropriate. *See* The Florida Bar v. Bustamante, 662 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1995). In Bustamante, the Respondent pled guilty to one count of federal felony of wire fraud. The Court held that pleading guilty to a federal felony warranted disbarment. *Id.* at 690. Bustamante alleged that because of his good character, his previously unblemished forty-year legal career, his age of sixty-five years, his national reputation in the black community, and the extreme pressures he was undergoing while he was being prosecuted, a suspension rather than disbarment was appropriate. *Id.* at 689. The Court rejected this argument and found that "...under the circumstances in this case, we find that Bustamante has not overcome the presumption that disbarment is the appropriate discipline for a felony conviction." *Id.* at 690.

In the instant case, Respondent's mitigation is not nearly as compelling as that of Bustamante to overcome the presumption of disbarment. In fact, Respondent has more aggravating factors present.

Likewise, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Horne</u>, 527 So.2d 816 (Fla. 1988), the Court held that an attorney who is convicted of a federal felony warrants disbarment. <u>Horne</u> at 818. *See also* <u>The Florida Bar v. Dougherty</u>, 769 So.2d 1027 (Fla. 2000) (Five year disbarment for federal felony convictions); <u>The Florida Bar v. Lechtner</u>, 666 So.2d 892 (Fla. 1996) (Ten

year disbarment for attorney convicted of several felonies); The Florida Bar v. Hosner, 536 So.2d 188 (Fla. 1988)(ten year disbarment); The Florida Bar v. Haimowitz, 512 So.2d 200 (Fla. 1987); The Florida Bar v. Weinsoff, 498 So.2d 942 (Fla. 1986); The Florida Bar v. Nedick, 603 So.2d 502 (Fla. 1992) (disbarment appropriate despite respondent's cooperation with authorities).

A case very similar to the instant one where the Court disbarred a lawyer for participating in illegal drug activities is The Florida Bar v. Eisenberg, 555 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1989). In Eisenberg, Eisenberg, acting in his capacity as an attorney, participated in a conspiracy to conceal the proceeds from the illegal importation of marijuana. *Id.* at 354. Eisenberg cooperated extensively with the authorities. The Referee recommended disbarment and Eisenberg appealed arguing that disbarment is too severe since he had cooperated extensively with the authorities and the fact that he had been rehabilitated. *Id.* at 354. The Court still recommended disbarment.

THE REFEREE DID NOT GO BEHIND RESPONDENT'S CONVICTION

Respondent argues that the Referee's findings should be overturned because the Referee went behind Respondent's conviction in making his findings. It is The Florida Bar's position that the Referee was entitled to consider the testimony of the witnesses and the evidence he did in reaching a

determination as to whether disbarment or a lighter sanction, as argued by the Respondent, was appropriate. In fact, it is The Fbrida Bar's position that Respondent in fact opened the door for the Referee to consider the very testimony and documents he now objects to him having considered.

Respondent relies on the fact that the Referee considered the testimony of DEA Special Agent, Jon DeLena, and relied on several documents which were part of the underlying criminal case, as well as the statements of the sentencing judge in arguing that the Referee went outside the appropriate areas in reaching his recommendation. This statement is simply misguided if one looks at the record.

A Referee is allowed to consider any evidence he deems appropriate in reaching a recommendation. *See* The Florida Bar v. Jasperson, 625 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1993). This is no different when the disciplinary action stems from a criminal case against the Respondent. While it is true that the Court has held that a Referee is not allowed to go behind a conviction, *See* The Florida Bar v. Kandekore, 766 So. 2d 1004 (Fla. 2000); The Florida Bar v. Vernell, 374 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1979), and in fact The Florida Bar stated the same to the Referee in these proceedings (TR 42, 43), a Referee is not precluded from considering any evidence he/she deems appropriate in determining the discipline. For example, in The Florida Bar v. Diamond, 548 So. 2d 1107

(Fla. 1989), the Referee was allowed to consider the testimony of the judge in the criminal case in reaching his recommendation. Likewise, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Jahn</u>, 509 So. 2d 285 (Fla. 1987), The Florida Bar was allowed to present testimony from two women involved in the incidents leading to Jahn's convictions. The fact that such testimony is considered does not in and of itself mean that a Referee is going behind a conviction.

In the instant case, it was appropriate for the Referee to consider the testimony of DEA Special Agent Jon DeLena. In fact, this testimony was invited by the Respondent and necessary given that Respondent placed his lack of knowledge as to where the money he hid came from into issue by asserting that he had no knowledge that the same was drug proceeds.

In his opening comments to the Court, Respondent's counsel argued as follows:

The focus of this case should be upon the conviction. It's rather interesting, and certainly you hit the nail on the head in one of our first hearings in this case, and that is the thing that was important to you was what knowledge did my client have that the money that he was holding and that he knew he was holding – and he's got no problem admitting when he gets up here to testify – that he was holding cash for Mr. Taylor.

But the crucial fact is, is that he did not know it was the fruit of illegality and that it was the fruit of drug sales. Didn't know that, Your Honor. In fact, the U.S. government, in open court, state that he didn't know that. (TR 28)

Respondent continues to place his lack of knowledge as an issue when specifically questioned by the Court as follows:

The Court: Well, basically, you're reiterating the fact that I said at one point that it's very important, it's a crucial issue, as to whether Mr. Cohen knew that the money was the fruit of illegal activity.

Mr. Tynan: It's an important fact. (TR 29)

The proceedings continued, and Respondent's counsel states as follows:

Now, you've raised a question that addresses, really, the severity of the activity. *That's a legitimate inquiry. I don't have a problem with that, your Honor*. And what we're going to present to you today, through my client, is that there was a long-term friendship with Mr. Taylor. They trusted each other. And that my client did not know. (emphasis added). (TR 31)

Respondent cannot now object to the Referee considering testimony which rebutted that offered by Respondent and for which he voluntarily and willingly opened the door.

As to the documents now Respondent complains were considered by the Referee, again the Respondent opened the door for their introduction.

Counsel stated to the Court:

Now, Your Honor may not have the benefit of the full transcript of the sentencing.

The Court: I have the full one.

Mr. Nurik: The reason is because...we managed to get a transcript in two hours. And here is the transcript. (TR 33)

In fact, the Bar attempted to object to the introduction of this transcript not having ever received a copy of the same, but the same was introduced into evidence. (TR 33-34).

Counsel for Respondent also introduced into evidence a stipulated section of facts which he read into the record from the sentencing transcript (TR 38-41). By doing so, Respondent's counsel introduced documents and facts into evidence which he now seeks to complain about. The Respondent cannot have it both ways - willingly introducing documents from the underlying criminal case and now seeking to object to the same because they were considered by the Referee.

Once Respondent placed his lack of knowledge in issue as a basis for why he should receive something less than disbarment, The Florida Bar had no choice but to place contradictory testimony in evidence and the Referee was allowed to consider the same in reaching his conclusion.

Finally, it should be noted that the Referee specifically denied that he was going behind the conviction (TR 42) and agreed that Respondent should "…not be allowed to do so." (TR 43). Specifically, the Referee stated:

This is a slam dunk. He has been convicted. And he is guilty of the crime he pled to. What I'm looking at is the issue of the degree of his involvement. I'm not certainly finding that what he pled to alone is sufficient for disbarment. It isn't. The law says it's perfectly adequate. And the burden, as you pointed out, is in their court to prove otherwise. So I understand that. He's

looking at disbarment right now, unless his defense counsel can do something more. But I think as part of the overall package I'm going to look at are things that are harmful to him, as well as things that are beneficial, simply so I can decide the appropriateness of disbarment for the matter of which he's pled. And if it should turn out that there was a lot of willful ignorance about where this money came from, that's to his detriment, and it helps the bar's case. (TR 44-45)

EVEN ASSUMING ARGUENDO THAT THE REFEREE WENT BEHIND THE CONVICTION IT WAS HARMLESS ERROR

Respondent argues that it was reversible error for the Referee to consider the documents he did involving the criminal case, the comments by Judge Marra, and the testimony of Agent DeLena. Even assuming arguendo that the consideration of these enumerated items was considered going behind Respondent's conviction, the same is harmless error.

The instant case is very similar to The Florida Bar v. Onett, 504 So. 2d 388 (Fla. 1987). In Onett the Court ruled that the admission into evidence of a federal indictment containing counts and allegations which were not proven at the federal trial was not harmful error. *Id.* at 390. The Court upheld Onett's disbarment, despite the fact that the federal indictment was admitted into evidence, on the basis that the trier-of-fact normally has access to such charges anyway even though they are not evidence of guilt. *Id.* at 390.

Here, like in <u>Onett</u>, *supra*, the fact that the Referee may have considered documents that were not in evidence in assessing Respondent's knowledge of where the money he hid came from is harmless error.

Respondent relies on The Florida Bar v. Vernell, 374 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1979) for the proposition that the Referee in the instant case went behind Respondent's conviction, yet Vernell is distinguishable. In Vernell, the Referee attempted to decide whether or not Vernell was actually guilty of the tax offenses for which he was charged. In the instant case, the Referee did not attempt to determine whether Respondent was actually guilty of the offense with which he was charged, but merely attempted to assess Respondent's credibility as to the fact that he allegedly had no knowledge of where the money he was hiding came from. The Referee in the instant case accepted Respondent's guilt, but in determining the appropriate sanction considered Respondent's knowledge and intent, something he is entitled to do pursuant to the Standards and the case law.

CONCLUSION

A Referee's findings should not be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous. His findings are not. Only after carefully considering all of the documentary evidence, the testimony offered, and the arguments made did he make his findings. Those findings are supported and should not be

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